
Minutes 
 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
28 August 2024 
 
Meeting held at Committee Room 5 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge UB8 1UW 
 

 Committee Members Present:  
Councillors Nick Denys, 
Tony Burles, 
Henry Higgins, 
June Nelson, and 
Philip Corthorne 
 
Officers Present:  
Richard Ennis – Corporate Director of Finance,  
James Lake – Director - Pensions, Treasury and Statutory Accounts,  
Claire Baker – Head of Internal Audit and Risk Assurance,  
Mark O’Halloran – Counter Fraud Manager, 
Tony Zaman – Chief Executive Officer, and  
Ryan Dell – Democratic Services Officer 
 
Also Present: 
Councillor Martin Goddard, Cabinet Member for Finance, (present for items 8-13) 
3x Candidates for new Independent Chair of the Audit Committee (present for item 6, 
one present virtually) 
 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIR (FOR THIS MEETING) (Agenda Item 1) 
 

 The Democratic Services Officer opened the meeting by asking if there were any 
nominations for a Chair of the meeting. Members proposed, seconded and agreed to 
appoint Cllr Denys as Chair of the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee appointed Cllr Nick Denys as Chair for the 
current meeting 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 2) 
 

 Apologies had been received from John Chesshire. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda Item 3) 
 

 None. 
 

4.    TO CONFIRM THAT ALL ITEMS MARKED PART I WILL BE CONSIDERED IN 
PUBLIC AND THAT ANY ITEMS MARKED PART II WILL BE CONSIDERED IN 
PRIVATE (Agenda Item 4) 

  
It was confirmed that item 6 would be heard in private. All other items would be heard 
in public. 
 

5.    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 30 APRIL 2024 (Agenda Item 5) 



  

  
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 April 2024 be approved 
as a correct record 
 

6.    INTERVIEWS FOR THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
(Agenda Item 6) 
 

 This item was discussed as a Part II item without the press or public present as the 
information under discussion contained confidential or exempt information as defined 
by law in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985. This was because it 
discussed ‘information relating to any individual’ (paragraph 1 of the schedule to the 
Act). 
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee declined to recommend to Council the 
appointment of an Independent Chair of the Audit Committee 
 

7. EXTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE (Agenda Item 7) 

 This item was considered in public before item 6. 
 
The Council published the draft 2023/24 Statement of Accounts on 28 June 2024. EY 
were aiming to complete the 2022/23 and 2023/24 audits by the end of November and 
ahead of the revised backstop dates. The revised and newly proposed backstop date 
for financial years up to an including 2022/23 was now 13 December 2024, which had 
been extended from September.  
 
The field work had been completed for the 2022/23 Housing Benefit Assurance 
Process and was currently at the Partner review stage. EY expected this to be 
completed in September 2024. 
 
Members referred to ‘disclaimed’/ ‘modified’ opinions (where auditors have been 
unable to complete audits, they will issue a ‘disclaimed’ or ‘modified’ audit opinion) and 
asked if this was to be expected. Officers noted that it was. Modified opinions were 
expected as a result of the government measures to remedy the national audit backlog. 
It was noted that Hillingdon was in a similar situation to other local authorities with 
outstanding audits.  
 
Members noted that previous audits had been held up due to differences in valuation 
around PPE and national issues relating to the accounting for infrastructure and IAS19. 
Delays relating to infrastructure and IAS19 were unlikely to happen during the 23/24 
audit, however it was expected that there would be differences in PPE valuations which 
would need to be managed.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee noted the report 
 

8. AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT (Agenda Item 8) 

 The meeting started streaming to YouTube and it was noted that the private part of the 
meeting had just concluded. It was also noted that items 7 and 14 were conducted prior 
to item 6 and so were not on the public broadcast.  

 
Officers presented the draft Annual Report of the Audit Committee for 2023/24. It had 
been drafted by the Head of Internal Audit on behalf of the Audit Committee and 
reflected their opinion of the work that had been undertaken during 2023-24. Feeback 
and amendments were invited from Members. 



  

 
Members requested that the input of the Independent Chair of the Committee be 
sought.  
 
RESOLVED: That approval of the Draft Audit Committee Annual Report for 
2023/24 be deferred to the next meeting. 
 

9. INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 24-25 Q1 (Agenda Item 9) 

 Officers presented the Internal Audit Progress Report. Since the last Audit Committee 
meeting, 10 reports had been finalised: two substantial assurance; four reasonable 
assurance; one advisory review in relation to Organisation Culture; one limited 
assurance; and two no assurance reports. 

 
The limited assurance report was around performance information. This was a known 
area of improvement and it was part of the digital strategy and digital programme, 
looking at performance indicators, and developing a dashboard for CMT level. Services 
had KPIs in place, but they were not aligned with the objectives of the service or the 
Council’s strategic objectives. KPIs had not been reviewed or monitored consistently. 

 
Members asked about the process of reprioritising workload when new managers 
requested internal audits. Officers explained the process, emphasising flexibility and 
the importance of obtaining necessary information. If items were being added to the 
plan, this was positive as people were engaging. If items were requested to come off of 
the plan, this would be challenged where appropriate.  

 
Members asked about the impact of zero-based budgeting. Officers noted that 
outcomes from zero-based budgeting were monitored and influenced the internal audit 
plan. 

 
The no assurance reports were around SEND Data Quality and Uninspected B&Bs. 
Members asked for more detail on these. SEND Data Quality was added to the plan 
because there were concerns around significant overspends against the agreed targets 
with the Council's Dedicated Schools Grant Safety Valve. Ongoing work had since 
improved processes. On B&Bs, insufficient evidence of checks had led to no 
assurance. This did not necessarily mean that those checks had not been completed. 
Efforts were ongoing to address this. It was noted that a lot of B&Bs were used to 
house residents in temporary accommodation. It would be ensured during follow-ups 
that any recommendations were implemented.  
 
Members asked and officers clarified that they developed a plan for the full year, and 
officers were roughly where they would expect to be at this point in the year (Quarter 
1). It tended to get busier at year-end. Officer tried to bring things forward into Quarters 
2 and 3. In terms of ratings, there were not usually as many limited and no assurance 
reports, however, this may be because there had been more focus on risk areas and a 
lot of work had been done on the risk register and increasing risk awareness.  
 
Members asked and officers further clarified that the audits were prioritised by the risk 
register and ratings within it. It was the role of Internal Audit to provide assurance to the 
Committee that there were controls in place. Officers would also consider if there were 
things coming out from other Councils or if KPIs were being missed. There were a lot of 
different elements involved.  
 
Officers noted that they had included a paper on the new internal audit standards. 



  

These were new global standards and would create more oversight for the Audit 
Committee. More guidance was expected on the public sector focus.  
 
Further to this, Members asked when they could expect a full explanation of how this 
applied to Hillingdon and how it would affect Members’ role as an Audit Committee. 
The paper listed essential conditions which were things that the Audit Committee were 
required to do. More public sector guidance was expected in September/ October and 
so it as hoped that by November officers would be able to give more guidance on the 
rules and regulations.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee noted the IA Progress since the last 
Committee meeting and the new Global Internal Audit Standards 
 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 24-25 Q1 (Agenda Item 10) 

 The new risk management system was being rolled out across the different 
directorates. Positive feedback had been received and the system had been described 
as easy to use. As at the end of June there were 221 risks on the system. The current 
total was 230. Of these, 16 were red-rated risks, and these formed the Corporate Risk 
Register.  

 
New Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) had been presented to the Corporate Risk 
Management Group on 24 June. They were responsible for implementing and 
managing the risk register.  

 
The Counter Fraud team had moved their risks onto the new system at the end of the 
quarter, which had led to an increase in the number of fraud risks. These were not new 
risks, just newly on the system. Risks had been added without a risk score to 
encourage active management and mitigation. 

 
Officers asked for feedback on things that could be added to aid Members’ 
understanding. 

 
Members asked about the 12 risks overdue for review. The Corporate Risk 
Management Group and CMT were responsible for managing these risks. Red-rated 
risks should be reviewed monthly, if not, weekly. If any were out of date and not 
recently reviewed, officers from those areas could be invited to the Audit Committee to 
discuss.  
 
Members asked about actions being taken for high-risk items. Officers noted that items 
that were red on the Corporate Risk Register should align with the strategic risks. 
Detailed actions were included in the Strategic Risk Report. The Strategic Risk 
Register was still in its infancy and had been aligned with the new CMT dashboard. 
Members noted that it would be useful, for the bigger risks, to know what actions were 
being taken and if items were remaining on the register, why this was the case. This 
was noted as an action to be discussed outside of the meeting. 
 
On changing risk status, Members asked how risks were closed or replaced, and about 
accountability for this. Risks had been reviewed and split into more specific categories. 
Explanatory notes would be added to future reports for clarity. KPIs on closed risks 
were monitored through the Corporate Risk Management Group, and red-rated risks 
required justification for closure.  

 
Members asked how actions were being recorded and followed-up. Actions were 



  

expected to be recorded on the new system. The Corporate Risk Management Group 
would challenge any lack of action. 

 
Members noted it may be useful to include how risk ratings had changed from the 
previous meeting to the current meeting. It was noted that this was done for corporate 
risks, it listed Quarter 4 and Quarter 1. It was proposed to use colour coding to show 
changes.  

 
Members asked about the table of review date and rating. It was noted that the 
‘Meeting Housing Need’, ‘Workforce Sufficiency’ and ‘Children’s Care Placements’ 
risks has been closed/ replaced. Officers noted that when items were added to the new 
risk management system, previous risks were reviewed. ‘Meeting Housing Need’ was a 
catch-all risk and so had been split into smaller risks such as decent homes, high levels 
of homelessness demand, and housing landlord service. Children's Care Placements 
was replaced with increasing costs of external residential provision and the high need 
SEN placements were replaced with uncertainty of safety valve agreement. Members 
suggested that an explanatory note could be added to the report to explain this.  

 
Members noted that the report read “It is expected officers are taking actions to reduce 
the risks in practice” and asked for some clarification on this. Officers noted that every 
new risk put on the new risk management system were proactively being managed. 
Actions were not recorded on the system. As this was a new system, the focus was on 
putting the risks on it. If risks were added and actions not taken, this would be 
challenged through the Corporate Risk Management Group.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee noted the report and provided feedback 
on the content and level of assurance received 
 

11. STRATEGIC RISK REPORT 24-25 Q1 (Agenda Item 11) 

 Officers introduced the Strategic Risk Report, noting its alignment with the strategic 
objectives and the operational risk register. The report aimed to provide assurance that 
the objectives will be met by collating strategic risks into a simplified, public-friendly 
version. Key updates included the integration of KPIs on the new dashboard and risk 
ratings from the new risk management system. 
 
Officers highlighted that the Corporate Management Team (CMT) owned each risk and 
should discuss them with the relevant Cabinet lead. A meeting with the new Corporate 
Director of Finance was planned. 

 
Members asked for clarity on the strategic risk of ‘high levels of homelessness and 
housing needs demand’, noting the change from the initial rating of B1 to the current 
rating of C2. It was noted that there were linked operation risks of legal disrepair; damp 
and mould; and decent homes/ thermal efficiencies. Officers explained that the 
strategic risk of ‘high levels of homelessness and housing needs demand’ aligned with 
the strategic objective of ‘safe and strong communities’.  
 
The linked operational risks impacted the achievement of this objective and were 
included in the Corporate Risk Register and the new risk management system. These 
were things that impacted on achieving the objective and impacted on the risk score. 
The current rating incorporated the ratings of the linked operational risks.  

 
Officers elaborated on the risk scoring methodology, noting that the overall risk score 
was a collective assessment rather than a simple aggregation of individual scores. For 



  

example, fraud risks were scored high at a strategic level due to their potential impact, 
but when broken down into specific operational risks, the scores may be lower. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee noted the Strategic Risk Report and 
provided feedback on the content and the level of assurance received 
 

12. COUNTER FRAUD ANNUAL REPORT 23-24 (Agenda Item 12) 

 Officers introduced the Counter Fraud annual report for 2023-24.  
 

This was an extremely successful year for the team. They had achieved savings of 
£11.2 million. The team had won the Public Finance Awards in both the Outstanding 
Fraud Prevention, Detection, and Recovery category and the overall Grand Prix. The 
team’s success had led to greater national recognition, with other councils and fraud 
teams seeking to learn from their best practices. 

 
On housing, 103 properties were recovered, representing a 23% increase from the 
previous year and a record for the team. Additional billing in revenues amounted to 
around £4 million, positively impacting Council finances. 

 
Just over £300,000 in social care savings had been achieved, demonstrating an 
improving work stream and better relationships with Social Care. 

 
Members asked officers to pass on their congratulations to the team for their 
achievements. Members also commended the report and the national award. 

 
Members asked about the fraud awareness campaign mentioned in the report. Officers 
noted that fraud awareness was embedded through mandatory e-learning for new staff 
and ongoing presentations. While empirical evidence was limited, anecdotal feedback 
suggested the campaign was building better relationships and awareness across the 
Council. 

 
Members asked about HMOs and methods of obtaining information via site visits. 
Officers noted that due to changes to the way the government had listed HMOs in 
terms of Council Tax, they did not fall under the remit of the Counter Fraud team and 
fell under private sector housing, which would fall under the remit of the Residents’ 
Services Select Committee. Officers advised that when they were looking at 
unregistered dwellings, such as beds in sheds, their visits were all unannounced.  
 
Members and officers discussed hybrid working and people running businesses from 
home and the implications of this on business rates. This would have a planning 
element regarding the use of properties.  

 
Members asked about staffing levels. Officers confirmed the team was at full 
complement, noting that staff had been seconded in over the last six months to take up 
part of the B&B project. 

 
Members asked about blue badge fraud, noting that the figures had been consistent 
across the year and then dropped off to zero at year end. Officers explained that the 
flow of cases through the system affected quarterly results. Blue Badge Days of Action 
were resource intensive, and once these days had been conducted, items were 
referred to the criminal justice system where appropriate. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee: 



  

 
1. Noted the Counter Fraud Annual Report for 2023/24; and 

 
2. Suggested any comments/ amendments 

 

13 COUNTER FRAUD PROGRESS REPORT 24-25 Q1 (Agenda Item 13) 

 Officers introduced the Counter Fraud Progress Report.  
 
The team had achieved savings of £3.3 million in Q1, marking a strong start to the 
year. 

 
On tenancy fraud, 30 properties were recovered, setting a new record for a single 
quarter.  

 
There were 34 cases ongoing within the criminal justice system.  

 
£783,000 had been generated in additional billing in quarter 1. 

 
23 unregistered dwellings had been identified. 

 
All fraud risks had been added to the Corporate Risk Register, facilitating closer 
collaboration between Internal Audit and Counter Fraud teams. 

 
There were planned workshops with service areas to improve fraud risk knowledge, 
management and relationships. 

 
Officers noted the importance of ongoing efforts to manage and mitigate fraud risks.  

 
The Committee acknowledged the impressive results and ongoing efforts in counter 
fraud activities. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee: 
 

1. Noted the Counter Fraud Progress Report for 2024/25 Quarter 1; and 
 

2. Suggested any comments/ amendments 
 

 14.   WORK PROGRAMME (Agenda Item 14) 
 

 This item was considered in public before item 6. 
 
Members referred to the training programme and suggested holding all of the training 
sessions in one sitting. This was agreed.  

 
It was confirmed that the Skills Matrix would be shared with new Committee Members.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee: 
 

1. Noted the dates for Audit Committee meetings: and 
 

2. Made suggestions for future agenda items, working practices and/ or 
reviews 

 



  

  
The meeting, which commenced at 5.10 pm, closed at 8:45 pm 
 

  
These are the minutes of the above meeting. For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Democratic Services on 01895 250636 or email: 
democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk. Circulation of these minutes is to Councillors, Officers, 
the Press and Members of the Public. 
 
The public part of this meeting was filmed live on the Council's YouTube 
Channel to increase transparency in decision-making, however these minutes 
remain the official and definitive record of proceedings. 


